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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DIS'&UCT OF CALIFORNIA: - s«

CITY OF SAN DIEGO Casal§o r /‘
'0Y°cV 2275 W GAB
COMPLAINT FOR ENVIRONMENTA
~ COST RECOVERY AND
l CONTRIBUTION, INJUNCTIVE
RELIEF, DECLARATORY RELIEF,

AND DAMAGES

)

)
. )
Plaintiff, )
VS, )

)
NATIONAL STEEL & SHIPBUILDING )
COMPANY; NATIONAL STEEL & )
SHIPBUILDING CORPORATION; )
NATIONAL IRON WORKS; MARTINOLICH )
SHIP BUILDING COMPANY; SOUTHWEST )
MARINE, INC.; BAE SYSTEMS SAN DIEGO)
SHIP REPAIR, INC.; SAN DIEGO MARINE
CONSTRUCTION COMPANY; STAR AND
CRESCENT BOAT COMPANY, a division of
SAN DIEGO MARINE CONSTRUCTION
COMPANY; STAR AND CRESCENT BOAT
COMPANY:; STAR AND CRESCENT
INVESTMENT COMPANY; STAR AND
CRESCENT FERRY COMPANY; SAN
DIEGO MARINE CONSTRUCTION
CORPORATION: MCCSD; CAMPBELL
INDUSTRIES; SAN DIEGO GAS &
ELECTRIC; UNITED STATES NAVY; SAN

DIEGO UNIFIED PORT DISTRICT; and
DOES 1-100, inclusive,

Demand For Jury Trial
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Plaintiff City of San Diego (“Plaintiff”) complains and alleges as follows:
PARTIES

1. Plaintiff is, and at all times material to this complaint has been, a municipal
corporation in the County of San Diego, State of California.

2. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant
NATIONAL STEEL & SHIPBUILDING COMPANY (“NAASCOQ”) is a corporation organized
and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and is authorized to do business and is doing
business in the State of California. Upon information and belief, NAASCO is a successor in
interest to defendants National Steel and Shipbuilding Corporation and National Iron Works.

3. Plaintiff is informed and believes that defendant NATIONAL STEEL &
SHIPBUILDING CORPORATION is a former corporation that was organized and existed under
the laws of the State of California and was authorized to do business and did business in the State
of California.

4. Plaintiff is informed and believes that defendant NATIONAL IRON WORKS is a
former corporation that was organized and existed under the laws of the State of California and
was authorized to do business and did business in the State of California.

5. Plaintiff is informed and believes that defendant MARTINOLICH SHIP
BUILDING COMPANY is former corporation that was organized and existed under the laws of
the State of California and was authorized to do business and did business in the State of
California. |

6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant
SOUTHWEST MARINE, INC. is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
State of California and was authorized to do business and did business in the State of California.

7. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant BAE
SYSTEMS SAN DIEGO SHIP REPAIR, INC. is the successor to SOUTHWEST MARINE,

INC. (“BAE SYSTEMS”)', and is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the

: The term “BAE SYSTEMS” will be used to refer to BAE SYSTEMS SAN DIEGO SHIP REPAIR, INC.

and/or SOUTHWEST MARINE, INC.
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State of California, doing business in California.

8. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant SAN
DIEGO MARINE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY is a former corporation that was organized
and existed under the laws of the State of California and was authorized to do business and did
business in the State of California.

9. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant STAR
AND CRESCENT BOAT COMPANY, A DIVISION OF SAN DIEGO MARINE
CONSTRUCTION COMPANY? is a former corporation that was organized and existed under
the laws of the State of California and was authorized to do business and did business in the State
of California.

10.  Plaintiffis informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant STAR
AND CRESCENT BOAT COMPANY is a former corporation that was organized and existed
under the laws of the State of California and was authorized to do business and did business in
the State of California.

11.  Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant STAR
AND CRESCENT INVESTMENT COMPANY is a former corporation that was organized and
existed under the laws of the State of California and was authorized to do business and did
business in the State of California.

12.  Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant STAR
AND CRESCENT FERRY COMPANY is a former corporation that was organized and existed
under the laws of the State of California and was authorized to do business and did business in
the State of California.

13.  Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant
CAMPBELL INDUSTRIES is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State

of California, authorized to do business in the State of California and did business in the State of |

2 The term “SDMCC DEFENDANTS” will be used to refer to SAN DIEGO MARINE CONSTRUCTION
COMPANY; STAR AND CRESCENT BOAT COMPANY, a division of SAN DIEGO MARINE
CONSTRUCTION COMPANY; STAR AND CRESCENT BOAT COMPANY; STAR AND CRESCENT
INVESTMENT COMPANY; and STAR AND CRESCENT FERRY COMPANY.
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California.

14.  Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant
MCCSD is a former corporation that organized and existed under the laws of the State of
California and was authorized to do business and did business in the State of California. On
information and belief, MCCSD was a wholly owned subsidiary of CAMPBELL INDUSTRIES
and changed its name to defendant SAN DIEGO MARINE CONSTRUCTION
CORPORATION.

15 Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant SAN
DIEGO MARINE CONSTRUCTION CORPORATION is a former corporation that was
organized and existed under the laws of the State of California and formerly did business in the
State of California.’

16.  Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant SAN
DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State
of California and is authorized to do business and does business in the State of California.

17.  Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant
UNITED STATES NAVY (“NAVY?) is a branch of the United States military organized and
existing under federal law, and authorized to do business and does business in the State of
California. Plaintiff has submitted or is in the process of submitting a claim against NAVY
under the Federal Tort Claims Act for the tort claims Plaintiff has against NAVY related to the
Shipyard Sediment S-'ite. Should NAVY deny Plaintiff’s administrative claim as to the tort
claims, Plaintiff will seek leave of court to amend this complaint to name NAVY as a defendant
to each of the tort claims herein.

18. vPlaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that defendant SAN
DIEGO UNIFIED PORT DISTRICT (“PORT DISTRICT”) is a special governmental entity,
created in 1962 by the San Diego Unified Port District Act and California Harbors and

Navigation Code in order to manage San Diego Harbor, and administer certain public lands

} The term “CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS” will be used to refer to CAMPBELL INDUSTRIES, MCCSD,
and/or SAN DIEGO MARINE CONSTRUCTION CORPORATION.
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along the San Diego Bay and is authorized to do business and does business in the State of
California. Government Code section 905(i) authorizes Plaintiff, a local public entity, to bring
these claims against Defendant PORT DISTRICT, another local public entity, without any prior
administrative claims procedure.

19.  Plaintiff is ignorant of the true names or capacities of the defendants sued herein
under the fictitious names DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, and therefore sues these defendants
by such fictitious names. Plaintiff will amend this complaint to allege their true names and
capacities when ascertained. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that each of
said fictitiously named defendants are, through their negligence, intentional torts, and/or conduct
giving rise to said liability, responsible or liable in some manner for the occurrences herein
alleged, and that the damages alleged herein were the direct and legal result of said actions or
omissions. |

NATURE OF ACTION

20.  Plaintiff and Defendants NASSCO, BAE SYSTEMS, CAMPBELL
INDUSTRIES, SDG&E, and NAVY have all been named as “Dischargers” or “Persons
Responsible” for alleged environmental contamination at the property known as the “Shipyard
Sediment Site” by the California Regional Water Quality Control Board, San Diego Region (“the
Regional Board™), in Tentative Clean Up & Abatement Order No. R9-2005-0126 (the “Tentative
Order”). A copy of the Tentative Order is attached to this Complaint as Exhibit “A” and is
incorporated bylref-erence herein.

21.  The Shipyard Sediment Site is a portion of San Diego Bay along the eastern shore
of the Bay in an area extending from approximately the Sampson Street Extension to the north
and Chollas Creek to the south, and from the NASSCO shipyard facility and BAE SYSTEMS
shipyard facility shoreline out to the San Diego main shipping channel to the west.

22.  The Regional Board contends that Plaintiff and defendants are jointly and
severally responsible for alleged property‘damage, including, but not limited to alleged damage
to aquatic life, at and beyond leaseholds at the Shipyard Sediment Site once and/or currently

occupied by Defendants and other entities. The Regional Board contends that such property
.5
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damage and injury was proximately caused by historical contamination of the Bay by the alleged
Dischargers and various other entities. Upon information and belief, based on the Tentative
Order and historical records, the alleged property damage and injury at issue began in the early
twentieth century and has continued to the present.

23.  The Regional Board contends that environmental investigations conducted at a
Shipyard Sediment Site revealed the presence of elevated levels of pollutants in the San Diego
Bay bottom marine sediment. The Regional Board has concluded that the contaminated marine
sediment has caused conditions of contamination in the San Diego Bay that adversely affects
aquatic life, aquatic-dependent wildlife, human health, and San Diego Bay beneficial uses. The
following hazardous substances have been detected in the sediment at the Shipyards Sediment
Site: Arsenic, Cadmium, Copper, Lead, Mercury, Zinc, Tributyltin (“TBT"), High Molecular
Weight Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons (“HPAHSs”), and Polychlorinated Biphenyls
(“PCBs™)*.

| JURISDICTION

24.  This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA), 42
U.S.C. §§ 9613(b) and (£), and 42 U.S.C. § 9607; pursuant to the Oil Pollution Act, 33 U.S.C.
§ 2709; pursuant to the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201; and pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1331.

25.  This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims brought
under state law by virtue of the supplemental jurisdiction provided in 28 U.S.C. § 1367, and
under the doctrine of pendent jurisdiction set forth in United Mine Workers v. Gibbs, 383 U.S.
715 (1966). Plaintiff’s claims under state law arise from the same nucleus of operative facts as
the claims under federal law.

VENUE
26.  Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 9613(b), venue is proper in any district in which the

4 The hazardous substances identified in this sentence will be referred to as the constituents of concern

(“COCs").
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release or damages occurred. The releases of hazardous substances and damages occurred in San
Diego, California, which is in the Southern District of California.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS/ BACKGROUND

A. PLAINTIFF

27.  Plaintiff City of San Diego owns and operates a municipal storm water system
(MS4) through whi‘ch it discharges urban runoff to San Diego Bay sufbject to the terms and
conditions of its National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit under
section 402 of the Clean Water Act.

28. From approximately 1914-1962, Plaintiff served as the designated public trustee,
via an Act of the Legislature of the State of California approved May 1, 1911, for thé, tidelands
property on which Defendants NASSCO and BAE SYSTEMS presently operate (th!é NAASCO
and BAE SYSTEMS leaseholds, respectively). From 1914-1962, Plaintiff did not conduct any
operations on the property at any time; Plaintiff did not discharge any hazardous substanceé from
these properties; nor did Plaintiff cause or permit any hazardous substances to be discharged
from these properties. The Regional Board did not find Plaintiff’s past role of public trustee of
this property to be a basis for naming Plaintiff a “Discharger” or “Responsible Party” under its
Tentative Order.

B. NASSCO

29.  Upon information and belief, from approximately 1945 to present, NASSCO
and/or its predecessors in interest have owﬁcd and-operated a full service ship consffuction,
modification, repair, and maintenance facility located at 2798 Harbor Drive (28th Street and
Harbor Drive) in San Diego, California. Upon information and belief, NASSCO leases the land
on which its facility operates from the PORT DISTRICT, the designated public trustee of the
property since assuming that function from Plaintiff in 1962 (“the NAASCO Léasehold”).

30. NASSCO’s primary business has historically been ship repair, construction, and
maintenance for the NAVY and commercial customers. Current site features include offices,
shops, warehouses, concrete platens for steel fabrication, a floating dry dock, a graving dock,

two shipbuilding ways, and five piers, which provide 12 berthing spaces.
-7-
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1 31.  Upon information and belief, the primary industrial processes which NASSCO

2 || has historically conducted include: surface preparation and paint removal; paint application; tank
3 || cleaning; mechanical repair/maintenance/installation; structural repair/alteration/assembly;
integrity/hydrostatic testing; paint equipment cleaning; engine repair/maintenance/installation;
steel fabrication and machining; electrical repair/maintenance/installation; hydraulic
repair/maintenance/installation; tank emptying; fueling; shipfitting; carpentry; and
refurbishing/modernization/cleaning.

32, Upon information and belief, the primary materials used by NASSCO in its

O 0 ~3 & W»n H

operations have historically included 1) abrasive grit (sometimes consisting of slag from coal-

10 || fired boilers and often containing iron, aluminum, silicon, calcium oxides, copper, zinc and

11 || titanium; also sand, cast iron or steel shot is used; enormous amounts are needed to remove paint Y"
12 || and it is needed in both wet and dry blasting); 2) paint (containing copper, zinc, chromium, lead,

\

13 || and hydrocarbons; anticorrosive paint often containing lead and zinc; antifouling paint often

Suite 1600
San Diego, CA 92101

14 || containing copper and tributyltin); 3) miscellaneous, including oils, grease, fuels, weld,

Gordon & Rees LLP
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15 ||detergents, cleaneré, rust inhibitors, paint thinners, hydrocarbon and chlorinated solvents,

16 || degreasers, acids, caustics, resins, adhesives/cement/sealants and chlorine.

17 33.  Upon information and belief, the wastes commonly generated by NASSCO

18 historically in its operations have been abrasive blast waste (with the largest concern being spent
19 || paint containing, among other substances, copper, tributyltin, lead, chromium and zinc); fresh
20 || paint; bilge waste/oily wastewater; blést wastewater; oils; waste paints; construction repair

21 || wastes and trash; and miscellaneous wastes consisting of lubricants, grease, fuels, sewage, boiler
22 || blowdown, condensate, discard, acid wastes, caustic wastes, and aqueous wastes.

23 34.  In 1972, the Regional Board initiated an investigation to determine the amount of
24 || and kinds of pollutants that entered San Diego Bay from shipbuilding and repair facilities, and
25 || the possible effects that pollution could have on beneficial uses of the Bay. All shipbuilding and
26 || repair facilities were inspected. The report noted, inter alia, the following:

27 a. It was estimated by workers and managers at all San Diego Bay shipyards

28 || that 5-10 percent of the sand blasted waste and other waste was either intentionally or

-8-
COMPLAINT




Gordon & Rees LLP
101 West Broadway

Suite 1600
San Diego, CA 92101

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Case 3:09-cv-02%5-W-CAB Document 1 Filed 10/14/09 Page 9 of 81

accidentally discharged into the Bay. The Regional Board estimated that this resulted in 335
tons of sand, 27 tons of copper oxide, 3 tons of lead oxide and 1 ton of zinc chromate being
discharged to the Bay from shipyard operations for 1971 alone;

b. The Regional Board collected bay sediment core samples from 11 sites in
the Bay in March 1972. The results of the sampling indicated that heavy metal concentrations
were higher near shipbuilding and repair facilities than other locations.

35.  Based on the data available for the years 1987-1991, NASSCO generates an
average of 198 tons of abrasive blast waste alone per month.

36.  Prior to the early 1990s, when 'a'storrn water first-flush capture Systerﬁ ‘was
installed for portions of the facility, all surface water runoff from NASSCO’s operations was
intentionally or accidentally discharged directly into San Diego Bay.

37.  During numerous inspections starting in the late 1980s, the Regional Board would
observe abrasive blast wastes at NASSCO’s facility deposited in areas where it would probably
be discharged to the Bay via stormwater runoff. Samples of abrasive blast waste and other
wastes were collected in the vicinity of storm drains or other areas susceptible to being
transported to the Bay. For example:

a. During inspections by the Regional Board in August 1989, the inspector
reported that “...the sandblast pit is a major problem. Sandblast waste is everywhere w/o runoff
controls.”;

b. During an inspection on October 16, 1991, the Regional Board inspector
reported “a threatened discharge to the storm drains from blasting, painting and dust collection
activities in the yard.”

c. During an inspection on February 27, 1992, the Regional Board inspector
noted spent abrasive blast waste on storm drain surfaces.

38.  The Regional Board has previously issued Administrative Civil Liability Orders
against NASSCO for discharges to the Bay, including:

a. On May 22, 1989, the Regional Board issued Complaint No. 89-42 to

NASSCO for discharge of spent abrasive waste from a floating dry dock to San Diego Bay and
-9.
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for operating its graving dock in a manner in violation of a past order. NASSCO waived a
hearing and accepted liability for discharge of contaminated cooling water from the hull and
freeboard abrasive blast operations to the Bay, failing to prevent water flows from coming in
contact with sand blast residue in the graving dock, and discharge of slurry blast to the Bay.

b. On January 30, 2001, the Regional Board issued Complaint No. 2001-24
to NASSCO for violations of storm water runoff requirements of its NPDES permit. NASSCO
sampled 21 discharge points and all failed the discharge requirements.

- 39,  The Regional Board has alleged in Te,ntaﬁvé Order R9-2005-0126 that NASSCO
has caused or permitted waste from.its shipyard operations to be discharged into the Blay.in
violation of waste disch&ge requirements, and discharged or deposited waste where it was
discharged into the Bay creating, or threatening to create, a condition of pollution or nuisance.
The Regional Board has alleged that NASSCO violated Water Code section 13304 and violated
its NPDES permit requirements under the Clean Water Act section 402.

40.  Upon information and belief, NAASCO has discharged the COCs from its
leasehold and these discharges have resulted in the contamination of the sediment at the
Shipyards Sediment Site.

C. NATIONAL STEEL & SHIPBUILDING CORPORATION

41.  Upon information and belief, from approximately 1950 to 1960, defendant
NATIONAL STEEL & SHIPBUILDING CORPORATION and/or its predecessors in interest
owned and operated a full service ship construction, modification, repair, and maintenance
facility located at 2798 Harbor Drive (28" Street and Harbor Drive) in San Diego, California.
NATIONAL STEEL & SHIPBUILDING CORPORATION leased the land on which its facility
operated from Plaintiff.

42.  Upon information and belief, NATIONAL STEEL & SHIPBUILDING
CORPORATION’s primary business was ship repair, construction, and maintenance for the
NAVY and commercial customers. Site features are believed to have included offices, shops,
warehouses, concrete platens for steel fabrication, a floating dry dock, a graving dock, two

shipbuilding ways, and piers providing numerous berthing spaces.
-10-
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1 43.  Upon information and belief, the primary industrial processes which NATIONAL
2 || STEEL & SHIPBUILDING CORPORATION conducted included: surface prepération and paint
3 || removal; paint application; tank cleaning; mechanical_repair/maintenance/installation; structural
4 || repair/alteration/assembly; integrity/hydrostatic testing; paint equipment cleaning; engine

repair/maintenance/installation; steel fabrication and machining; electrical
repair/maintenance/installation; hydraulic repair/maintenance/installation; tank emptying;
fueling; shipfitting; carpentry; and refurbishing/modernization/cleaning.

44. Upon information and bellef the prlmary materials used by NATIONAL STEEL

O 00 3 O W

& SHIPBUILDING CORPORATION in its operations included 1) abrasive grit (sometimes
10 || consisting of slag from coal-fired boilers and often containing iron, aluminum, silicon, calcium
11 || oxides, copper, zinc and titanium,; also sand, cast iron or steel shot is used; enormous amounts
12 || are needed to remove paint and it is needed in both wet and dry blasting); 2) paint (containing

13 || copper, zinc, chromium, lead, and hydrocarbons; anticorrosive paint often containing lead and

Suite 1600
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14 || zinc; antifouling paint often containing copper and tributyltin); 3) miscellaneous, including oils,
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15 || grease, fuels, weld, detergents, cleaners, rust inhibitors, paint thinners, hydrocarbon and

16 || chlorinated solvents, degreasers, acids, caustics, resins, adhesives/cenient/sealants and chlorine.
17 45.  Upon information and belief, the wastes commonly generated by NATIONAL
18 || STEEL & SHIPBUILDING CORPORATION in its operations were abrasive blast waste (with
19 || the largest concern being spent paint containing, among other substances, copper, tributyltin,
20 || lead, chromium and zinc); fresh paint; bilge waste/oily wastewater; blast wastewater; oils; waste
21 || paints; construction repair wastes and trash; and miscellaneous wastes consisting of lubricants,
22 || grease, fuels, sewage, boiler blowdown, condensate, discard, acid wastes, caustic wastes, and
23 || aqueous wastes.

24 46. Upon information and belief, NATIONAL STEEL & SHIPBUILDING

25 || CORPORATION discharged the COCs from its leasehold and these discharges have resulted in
26 || the contamination of the sediment at the Shipyards Sediment Site.

27 ||C. NATIONAL IRON WORKS

28 47.  Upon information and belief, from approximately 1945 to 1960, defendant
1] -
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NATIONAL IRON WORKS owned and operated a full service ship construction, modification,
repair, and maintenance facility located at 2798 Harbor Drive (28" Street and Harbor Drive) in
San Diego, California. NATIONAL IRON WORKS leased the land on which its facility
operated from Plaintiff.

48.  Upon information and belief, NATIONAL IRON WORKS’s primary business
was ship repair, construction, and maintenance for the NAVY and commercial customers. Site
features are believed to have included offices, shops, warehouses, concrete platens for steel
fabrication, a floating dry dock, a graving dock, two shipbuilding ways, and piers providing
numerous bert};ing spaces.

49.  Upon information and belief, the primary industrial processes which NATIONAL
IRON WORKS conducted included: surface preparation and paint removal; paint application;
tank cleaning; mechanical repair/maintenance/installation; structural repair/alteration/assembly;
integrity/hydrostatic testing; paint equipment cleaning; engine repair/maintenance/installation;
steel fabrication and machining; electrical repair/maintenance/installation; hydraulic
repair/maintenance/installation; tank emptying; fueling; shipfitting; carpentry; and
refurbishing/modernization/cleaning. |

50.  Upon information and belief, the primary materials used by NATIONAL IRON
WORKS in its operations included 1) abrasive grit (sometimes consisting of slag from coal-fired
boilers and often containing iron, aluminum, silicon, calcium oxides, copper, zinc and titanium;
also sand, cast iron or steel shot is used; enormous amounts are needed to remove paint and it is
needed in both wet and dry blasting); 2) paint (containing copper, zinc, chromium, lead, and
hydrocarbons; anticorrosive paint often containing lead and zinc; antifouling paint often
containing copper and tributyltin); 3) miscellaneous, including oils, grease, fuels, weld,
detergents, cleaners, rust inhibitors, paint thinners, hydrocarbon and chlorinated solvents,
degreasers, acids, caustics, resins, adhesives/cement/sealants and chlorine.

51.  Upon information and belief, the wastes commonly generated by NATIONAL
IRON WORKS in its operations were abrasive blast waste (with the largest concern being spent

paint containing, among other substances, copper, tributyltin, lead, chromium and zinc); fresh
-12-
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paint; bilge waste/oily wastewater; blast wastewater; oils; waste paihts; construction repair
wastes and trash; and miscellaneous wastes consisting of lubricants, grease, fuels, sewage, boiler
blowdown, condensate, discard, acid wastes, caustic wastes, and aqueous wastes.

52.  Upon information and belief, NATIONAL IRON WORKS discharged the COCs
from its leasehold and these discharges have resulted in the contamination of the sediment at the
Shipyards Sediment Site.

D. MARTINOLICH SHIP BUILDING COMPANY

53.  Upon information and belief, from approximately 1940 to 1960, defendant
MARTINOLICH SHIP BUILDING COMPANY (“MARTINOLICH”) owned and operated a
full service ship construction, modification, repair, and maintenance facility located at 2798
Harbor Drive (28" Street and Harbor Drive) in San Diego, California. MARTINOLICH leased
the land on which its facility operated from Plaintiff,

54.  Upon information and belief, MARTINOLICH’s primary business was ship
repair, construction, and maintenance for the NAVY and commercial customers. Site features
are believed to have included offices, shops, warehouses, concrete platens for steel fabrication, a
floating dry dock, a grdving dock, two shipbuilding ways, and piers providing numerous berthing
spaces.

55.  Upon information and belief, the primary industrial processes which
MARTINOLICH conducted included: surface preparation and paint removal; paint application;
tank cleaning; mechanical repair/maintenanée/installation‘; structural repair/alteration/assembiy;.
integrity/hydrostatic testing; paint equipment cleaning; engine repair/maintenance/installation;
steel fabrication and machining; electrical repair/maintenance/installation; hydraulic
repair/maintenance/installation; tank emptying; fueling; shipfitting; carpentry; and
refurbishing/modernization/cleaning.

56.  Upon information and belief, the primary materials used by MARTINOLICH in
its operatiohs included 1) abrasive grit (sometimes consisting of slag from coal-fired boilers and
often containing iron, aluminum, silicon, calcium oxides, copper, zinc and titanium; also sand,

cast iron or steel shot is used; enormous amounts are needed to remove paint and it is needed in
-13-
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1 || both wet and dry blasting); 2) paint (containing copper, zinc, chromium, lead, and hydrocarbons;

2 || anticorrosive paint often containing lead and zinc; antifouling paint often containing copper and

I

tributyltin); 3) miscellaneous, including oils, grease, fuels, weld, detergents, cleaners, rust
inhibitors, paint thinners, hydrocarbon and chlorinated solvents, degreasers, acids, caustics,
5 || resins, adhesives/cement/sealants and chlorine.

57.  Upon information and belief, the wastes commonly generated by

~N

MARTINOLICH in its operations were abrasive blast waste (with the largest concern being

8 || spent paint containing, among other substances, copper, tributyltin, lead, chromium and zinc);

9 || fresh paint; bilge waste/oily wastewater; blast wastewater; oils; waste paints; construction repair
10 || wastes and trash; and miscellaneous wastes consisting of lubricants, grease, fuels, sewage, boiler
11 || blowdown, condensate, discard, acid wastes, caustic wastes, and aqueous wastes.

12 58.  Upon information and belief, MARTINOLICH discharged the COCs from its

13 ||leasehold and these discharges have resulted in the contamination of the sediment at the

Suite 1600
San Diego, CA 92101

14 || Shipyards Sediment Site.

Gordon & Rees LLP
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15 || E. BAE SYSTEMS

16 59.  Since 1979, BAE SYSTEMS has owned and operated a ship repair, alteration,
17 i|and overhaul facility on approximately 40 acres of tidelands property located at 2205 East Belt
18 || Street, Foot of Sampson Street, in San Diego, California (“the BAE Leasehold”).

19 60.  Since 1979, BAE SYSTEMS has leased the land on which its facility operates
20 || from the PORT DISTRICT. |

21 61. BAE SYSTEMS’ business historically has been ship repair and maintenance for
22 |INAVY and commercial customers. The facilities at BAE SYSTEMS have historically included
23 || 5 piers, 2 floating dry docks and 2 marine railways, which, together with cranes, enable ships to
24 || be launched or repaired. On-shore facilities have included an abrasive blasting building and a
25 || paint spray booth. There is an area for steam cleaning/pressure washing vehicles and equipment,
26 || which includes a sump where effluent is collected and drained to a clarifier that is connected to
27 || the sewer system. There are also manufacturing and storage areas. BAE SYSTEMS also

28 || presently manages a solid waste reclamation and recycling area and a hazardous waste
-14-
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1 || reclamation facility on the property.

2 62.  Upon information and belief, the primary industrial processes which BAE

3 || SYSTEMS has historically conducted include: surface preparation and paint removal; paint
4 || application; tank cleaning; mechanical repair/maintenance/installation; structural

5 || repair/alteration/assembly; integrity/hydrostatic testing; paint equipment cleaning; engine
repair/maintenance/installation; steel fabrication and machining; electrical
repair/maintenance/installation; hydraulic repair/maintenance/installation; tank emptying;

fueling; shipfitting; carpentry; and refurbishing/modernization/cleaning.

O 0o N

63.  Upon information and belief, the primary materials used by BAE SYSTEMS in
10 || its operations have historically been 1) abrasive grit (sometimes consisting of slag from coal-

11 || fired boilers and often containing iron, aluminum, silicon, calcium oxides, copper, zinc and

12 || titanium; also sand, cast iron or steel shot is used; enormous amounts are needed to remove paint

13 || and it is needed in both wet and dry blasting); 2) paint (containing copper, zinc, chromium, lead,

Suite 1600
San Diego, CA 92101

14 || and hydrocarbons; anticorrosive paint often containing lead and zinc; antifouling paint often

Gordon & Rees LLP
101 West Broadway

15 || containing copper and tributyltin); 3) miscellaneous, including oils, grease, fuels, weld,

16 detefgents, cleaners, rust inhibitors, paint thinners, hydrocarbon and chlorinated solvents,

17 || degreasers, acids, caustics, resins, adhesives/cement/sealants and chlorine.

18 64.  Upon information and belief, the wastes commonly generated by BAE SYSTEMS
19 || historically in its operations have been abrasive blast waste (with the largest concern being spent
20 || paint containing copper, tributyltin, leéd, chromium and zinc); fresh paint; bilge waste/oily

21 || wastewater; blast wastewater; oils; waste paints; construction repair wastes and trash; and

22 || miscellaneous wastes consisting of lubricants, grease, fuels, sewage, boiler blowdown,

23 || condensate, discard, acid wastes, caustic wastes, and aqueous wastes.

24 65. Based on the data available for the years 1987-1991, BAE SYSTEMS generated
25 || an average of 178 tons of abrasive blast waste alone per month.

26 66.  During numerous inspections starting in the late 1980s, the Regional Board

27 || observed abrasive blast wastes at BAE SYSTEMS® facility deposited in areas where it would

28 || probably be discharged to the Bay via stormwater runoff. Samples of abrasive blast waste and
-15-
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other wastes were collected in the vicinity of storm drains or other areas susceptible to being
transported to the Bay. For example:

a. During an inspection on March 3, 1987, the Regional Board inspector
reported that “...this facility discharged water from the dry dock to the San Diego Bay”;

b. During an inspection on November 9, 1988, the Regional Board inspector
reported that “Sand blast waste and sewage are being discharged to San Diego Bay”.

67. The Regional Board has previously issued Administrative Civil Liability Orders
against BAE SYSTEMS for discharges to the Bay, including:

a. The Regional Board issued Complaint 89-02 against BAE SYSTEMS for
discharge of abrasive grit waste and raw sewage to San Diego Bay. The abrasive grit waste
contained elevated levels of arsenic, chromium, lead, and zinc and hazardous levels of copper.

b. The Regional Board issued Complaint 2001-138 to BAE SYSTEMS for
violation of storm water runoff requirements of its NPDES permit. Storm water samples
exceeded the permitted levels for copper and zinc.

68. On April 30, 1996, the Natural Resources Defense Counsel, Inc., San Diego
Baykeeper, and Kenneth J. Moser brought Clean Water Act legal action in this Court against
BAE SYSTEMS for, inter alia, violating its NPDES permit requirements by discharging
unlawful amounts of pollutants into San Diego Bay.

69.  On September 7, 1999, this Court issued its findings of fact and conclusions of
law, finding that convincing evidence showed, inter alia, that BAE SYSTEMS’ reports
demonstrated a pattern of poor housekeeping and showed that violations, when reported, were
not remedied timely; that BAE SYSTEMS’ implementation of its plans had led to significant
contributions of pollutants to BAE SYSTEMS’ leasehold; that substantial quantities of polluténts
from BAE SYSTEMS’ paint-blasting operations had entered San Diego Bay in BAE SYSTEMS’
storm water discharges; and that BAE SYSTEMS’ failure to implement its storm water plans
adequately was contributing to and perpetuating the contamination of its leasehold. The findings
and ruling was appealed to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, which did not overturn any of the

rulings of this Court. The United States Supreme Court denied the appeal.
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70.  The Regional Board has alleged in Tentative Order R9-2005-0126 that BAE
SYSTEMS has caused or permitted waste from its shipyard operations to be discharged into the
Bay in violation of waste discharge requirements, and discharged or deposited waste where it
was discharged into the Bay creating, or threatening to create, a condition of pollution or
nuisance. The Regional Board has alleged that BAE SYSTEMS has violated Water Code
section 13304 and violated its NPDES permit requirements under the Clean Water Act section
402.

71. Upon information and belief, BAE SYSTEMS has intentionally or accidentally
discharged the COCs from its leasehold and these discharges have resulted in the contamination
of the sediment at the Shipyards Sediment Site.

F. SAN DIEGO MARINE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY & THE STAR AND

CRESCENT COMPANIES

72.  Plaintiff leased to the SDMCC DEFENDANTS certain property at the foot of
Sampson street from 1914 to 1962.

73.  From 1962 to July 1972, the PORT DISTRICT leased this property to the
SDMCC DEFENDANTS.

74.  Upon information and belief, the facility owned and operated by the SDMCC
DEFENDANTS was historically a ship repair and construction facility for NAVY and
commercial customers. The facility included 2 floating dry docks and 3 marine railways, which,
together with crénes, enabled ships to be launched or repaired.

75.  Upon information and belief, the primary industrial processes which the SDMCC
DEFENDANTS likely conducted include: surface preparation and paint removal; paint
application; tank cleaning; mechanical repair/maintenance/installation; structural
repair/alteration/assembly; integrity/hydrostatic testing; paint equipment cleaning; engine
repair/maintenance/installation; steel fabrication and machining; electrical
repair/maintenance/installation; hydraulic repair/maintenance/installation; tank emptying;
fueling; shipfitting; carpentry; and refurbishing/modernization/cleaning.

76.  Upon information and belief, the primary materials believed to have been used by |
-17-
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the SDMCC DEFENDANTS in their operations, based on typical materials used in the industry,
are 1) abrasive grit (sometimes consisting of slag from coal-fired boilers and often containing
iron, aluminum, silicon, calcium oxides, copper, zinc and titanium,; also sand, cast iron or steel
shot is used; enormous amounts are needed to remove paint and it is needed in both wet and dry
blasting); 2) paint (containing copper, zinc, chromium, lead, and hydrocarbons; anticorrosive
paint often containing lead and zinc; antifouling paint often containing copper and tributyltin); 3)
miscellaneous, including oils, grease, fuels, weld, detergents, cleaners, rust inhibitors, paint
thinners, hydrocarbon and chlorinated solvents, degreasers, acids, caustics, resins,
adhesives/cement/sealants and chlorine.

77.  Upon information and belief, the wastes believed to have been generated by the
SDMCC DEFENDANTS in their operations, based on those generated by the above-listed
shipyard activities, are abrasive blast waste (with the largest concern being spent paint containing
copper, tributyltin, lead, chromium and zinc); fresh paint; bilge waste/oily wastewater; blast
wastewater; oils; waste paints; construction repair wastes and trash; and miscellaneous wastes
consisting of lubricants, grease, fuels, sewage, boiler blowdown, condensate, discard, acid
wastes, caustic wastes, and aqueous wastes.

78.  In March 1972, the Regional Board initiated an investigation té determine the
amount of and kinds of pollutants that entered San Diego Bay from shipbuilding and repair
facilities, and the possible effects that pollution could have on beneficial uses of the Bay. All
shipbuildihg and repair facilities were inspected, including SDMCC. The report noted, inter<
alia, the following conditions from the year 1971:

a. SDMCC constructed 6 new ships and refinished 70 ships in 1971.
Approximately 20-50% of the ships were sandblasted. Approximately 8,000 gallons of paint and
primer containing copper and tributyltin were used. Air sand blasting with black sand was used
to strip vessels to bare metal in the dry docks and on the railways;

b. The SDMCC DEFENDANTS’ facility was located immediately adjacent
to the Bay, and wastes from the facility were conveyed to the Bay by water flows, by becoming

airborne, or by falling directly into the Bay;
-18-
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1 79.  The Regional Board has alleged in Tentative Order R9-2005-0126 that SDMCC
2 || caused or permitted waste from its shipyard operations to be discharged into the Bay creating, or

3 || threatening to create, a condition of pollution or nuisance. The Regional Board has alleged that

4 || SDMCC has violated Water Code section 13304.
5 80.  Upon information and belief, SDMCC has intentionally or accidentally
6 || discharged the COCs from its leasehold and these discharges have resulted in the contamination
7 || of the sediment at the Shipyards Sediment Site.
8 {|G. CAMPBELL INDUSTRIES, MCCSD, AND SAN DIEGO MARINE
. 9 CORPORATION
10 81.  Upon information and belief, from at least 1972 (if not earlier) to 1979, the

11 {| CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS owned and operated a ship repair, alteration, and overhaul facility
12 || on approximately 40 acres of tidelands property on or about 2205 East Belt Street, Foot of

13 || Sampson Street, in San Diego, California, within or adjacent to the BAE Leasehold. The

Suite 1600
San Diego, CA 92101

14 || CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS leased this property from the PORT DISTRICT.

Gordon & Rees LLP
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15 82.  Upon information and belief, the CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS' facility included
16 ||2 floating dry docks and 3 marine railways, which, together with cranes, enable ships to be

17 ||launched or repaired.

18 83.  Upon information and belief, the primary industrial processes which the

19 || CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS likely conducted, based upon typical ship construction and repair
20 indﬁsfry activities, include: surface preparation and paint removal; paint application; tank

21 || cleaning; mechanical repair/maintenance/installation; structural repair/alteration/assembly;

22 ||integrity/hydrostatic testing; paint equipment cleaning; engine repair/maintenance/installation;
23 || steel fabrication and machining; electrical repair/maintenance/installation; hydraulic

24 || repair/maintenance/installation; tank emptying; fueling; shiipﬁtting; carpentry; and

25 || refurbishing/modernization/cleaning.

26 84.  Upon information and belief, the primary materials believed to have been used by

27 ||the CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS in its operations, based on typical materials used in the

28 || industry, are 1) abrasive grit (sometimes consisting of slag from coal-fired boilers and often
-19-
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containing iron, aluminum, silicon, calcium oxides, copper, zinc and titanium;_ also sand, cast
iron or steel shot is used; enormous amounts are needed to remove paint and it is needed in both
wet and dry blasting); 2) paint (containing copper, zinc, chromium, lead, and hydrocarbons;
anticorrosive paint often contains lead and zinc; antifouling paint often contains copper and
tributyltin); 3) miscellaneous, including oils, grease, fuels, weld, detergents, cleaners, rust
inhibitors, paint thinners, hydrocarbon and chlorinated solvents, degreasers, acids, caustics,
resins, adhesives/cement/sealants and chlorine.

85.  Upon information and belief, the wastes believed to have been generated by the
CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS in its operations, based on those generated by the above-listed
shipyard activities, are abrasive blast waste (with the largest concern being spent paint containing
copper, tributyltin, lead, chromium and zinc); fresh paint; bilge waste/oily wastewater; blast
wastewater; oils; waste paints; construction repair wastes and trash; and miscellaneous wastes
consisting of lubricants, grease, fuels, sewage, boiler blowdown, condensate, discard, acid
wastes, caustic wastes, and aqueous wastes.

86.  Data from the PORT DISTRICT indicate that historical operations at the
CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS' facility included:

a. Use of formaldehyde and arsenic in pretreated wood at the wood shop;

b. Performance of blasting, welding and painting activities for Navy contract
work in the blasting area;

c. Use of a dust suppression system for the blasting house, which consisted
of blowers directed to the Bay with a water spray to cause blast dust to settle in the water;

d. Discharge of all wastes generated on the dry dock to the Bay, including
blast grit and paint.

87.  In 1973, an undetermined amount of fuel was released to the Bay from the
CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS' leasehold, resulting in temporary site closure.

88.  The Regional Board has alleged in Tentative Order R9-2005-0126 that the entities
operating at the CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS' facility caused or permitted waste from its

shipyard operations to be discharged into the Bay in violation of waste discharge requirements,
-20-
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and discharged or deposited waste where it was discharged into the Bay creating, or threatening
to create, a condition of pollution or nuisance. The Regional Board has alleged that
CAMPBELL violated Water Code section 13304 and violated its NPDES permit requirements
under the Clean Water Act section 402.

89.  Upon information and belief, the CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS have intentionally
or accidentally discharged the COCs from its leasehold and these discharges have resulted in the
contamination of the sediment at the Shipyards Sediment Site.

H.  SDG&E

90. | Defendant SDG&E, a subsidiary of Sempra Energy Company, owned and
operated the Silvergate Power Plant along the north side of the BAE Leasehold from
approximately 1943 to the 1990s. The plant ceased active operations in approximately 1984 and
was decommissioned in 2004.

91.  Upon information and belief, the Silvergate Power Plant included 4 steam turbine
electrical generators. The boilers initially burned fuel oil, and in later years were converted to
burn both natural gas and fuel oil. There was also an electrical switchyard adjacent to the plant
itself. The facility had transformers onsite.

92.  Upon information and belief, as part of the plant’s operations, SDG&E
maintained an easement to San Diego Bay for cooling water discharge tunnels (“CW tunnels”) to
deliver and remove water used for cooling the turbines. The turbine sump pumps discharged to
the CW tunnels. Bilge water was also piped to the CW tunnels. The CW tunnels had flow rates
of 120-180 million gallons per day. The discharge CW tunnel was located in close proximity to
the property line with the BAE Leasehold.

93.  Upon information and belief, there were also at least 2 wastewater
settling/evaporation ponds and 2 subgrade oil separators on the SDG&E easement, within close
proximity to the Bay. Basement bilge water from the boiler side of the plant was pumped to a
pond(s) for settling and evaporation, and some of that water was discharged to the Bay.
Historical photographs indicate a surface spill at “Pond A” occurred on or about 1952 when a

plug in piping led to overflow of liquid onto the adjacent ground, which photographs indicate
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flowed to the Bay. “Pond B” was used from at least 1966-1973 as an oil-water settling pond.
There was also an area referred to as “Nobel’s Lake,” which may have been “Pond B,” which
received discharges from all sources in the north side of the plant, including the fuel oil pump
room sump pump, and possibly the turbine room sump pumps, control rooms, generator vaults in
the switchyard, electrical repair, maintenance and machining areas, and rinsewater from cleaning
out drums containing PCBs. As of 1974, “Nobel’s Lake” was filled to the brim and contained an
11 foét deep mixture of oil and earth.

94.  Upon information and belief, the Silvergate Power Plant’s switchyard and plant
itself were sources of PCBs:

a. In the switchyard, the following equipment likely contained PCB fluids:
75 oil circuit breaker tanks, 4 transformers, and the main and auxillary transformers for
Generator Units 1-4. The presence of PCBs at the site was documented during the Underground
Tank Storage program on or about 2006.

b. In the power plant itself, the following equipment in the turbine room and
on the cooling water deck likely contained PCB fluids: 4 Steam Turbine Generator Sets, 8
(2500-3000 gallon) Turbine Lubricating Oil tanks, 2 power and 2 lighting transformers near each
of Generator Units 1 and 2 on the cooling water deck. Shop areas conducting electrical repairs,
maintenance and machining also could have been PCB sources. 'Capacitors, switches, reclosers,
wiring insulation, lube oil coolers, condensate pumps, overhead cranes and hoists are also
potential sources.

95.  Upon information and belief, Studies indicate that steam turbine
hydraulic/lubricating oil loss from power cplants on an annual basis ranges from 5-30%, with the
average annual loss in the United States 7-10%.

96.  Upon information and belief, Case studies indicate that PCBs are most commonly
found on and around the oil lubrication systems, former station transformer areas and power-
generation equipment at plants, and that PCBs were found in turbine generator lubrication oil
because of the use of the same as a lubricant throughout plants.

97.  Upon information and belief, there were multiple transport pathways for PCBs to
.22
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be discharged from the Silvergate Power Plant to San Diego Bay:

a. CW Tunnel System: The turbine sump pumps discharged to the CW
Tunnel, which discharged to the Bay immediately north of the current BAE SYSTEMS
leasehold. The turbine sump pumps were likely recipients of discharges from turbine generator
lubrication/hydraulic systems, overhead crane hydraulic system, or electrical gear (capacitors,
transformers, reclosers, switchers), which contained PCBs. Bilge water was also piped to the
CW tunnels. The CW tunnel system was not a closed system.

b. Ponds, including “Nobel’s Lake™: “Pond A” had a documented overflow
in 19‘52 which reached the Bay near the property line with the current BAE SYSTEMS
leasehold. This overflow likely contained PCBs, given that PCB containing oils were used at
power plants on a widespread basis in this time frame. “Pond B” was used from at least 1966-
1973 as an oil-water settling pond, located a few hundred feet from the Bay, also near the
property line with the BAE Leasehold. “Nobel’s Lake,” which may have been “Pond B,”
received discharges from all sources in the north side of the plant, including the fuel oil pump
room sump pump, and possibly the turbine room sump pumps, control rooms, generator vaults in
the switchyard, electrical repair, maintenance and machining areas, and rinsewater from cleaning
out drums containing PCBs. Photographs indicate surface drainage around the Nobel’s Lake
area in the 1950s and document removals of “sludge” and “muck” from it which was simply
placed in a hole nearby, all in very close proximity to the Bay. As of 1974, “Nobel’s Lake” was
filled to the brim and contained an 11 foot deep mixture of “oil and earth.” Photographs and
plant diagrams indicate that Nobel’s Lake itself drained into the CW discharge tunnel or directly
into the Bay through an outlet pipe. Soil samples taken in the vicinity of Pond B/Nobel’s Lake
in 1995 indicate elevated levels of PCBs, chromium, copper, lead, nickel and zinc.

c. Floor drains: An undated SDG&E training manual states that “... floor
drains are in areas where large amounts of oil may be spilled.”

d. Surface runoff from switchyard: There was the potential for runoff of
sediments containing PCBs during precipitation events, directly to the Bay or to the Bay through

one of Plaintif’s MS4 outfalls. On information and belief, transformers in the switchyard were
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not contained within concrete sumps and there were not secondary containment measures for oil
storage units until the 1970s.

98.  Upon information and belief, in 2006, during closure of SDG&E’s underground
storage tanks, PCBs were detected in the soil in all 18 samples taken around at the facility.
Eleven of the samples had PCBs above 1000 ug/kg. The 3 highest samples had concentrations of
125,000 ug/kg, 14,700 ug/kg and 34,700 ug/kg. Copper, lead and zinc were also detected. The
Regional Board found in its Tentative Order R9-205-0126 that the PCBs and metals deposited in
the soil by SDG&E were such that they were, or probably would be, discharged to the Bay via
storm water runoff.

99.  In 2005, Plaintiff observed an illegal discharge into its MS4 catch basin on the
north side of Sampson Street, immediately to the east of BAE SYSTEMS’ parking lot and the
SDG&E Silvergate Power Plant. Plaintiff took sampling of the inside and base of the six inch
lateral entering the basin from the former plant leasehold, the base of the 12 inch lateral entering
the basin from an area draining water from the facility, and from the 18 inch pipe exiting the
basin and conveying to the Bay at the Shipyard Sediment Site. The results indicated the
presence of PCBs and PAHs entering the storm water system from the former plant leasehold,
and exiting the storm drain system to the Bay. Plaintiff issued a Notice of Violation to SDG&E.

100. The Regional Board has alleged in Tentative Order R9-2005-0126 that SDG&E
caused or permitted waste from its power plant operations to be discharged into the Bay in
violation of waste discharge requirements, and discharged or deposited waste where it wés Q
discharged into the Bay creating, or threatening to create, a condition of pollution or nuisance.
The Regional Board has alleged that SDG&E has violated Water Code section 13304 and
violated its NPDES permit requirements under the Clean Water Act section 402.

101.  Upon information and belief, SDG&E has intentionally or accidentally discharged
the COCs from its leasehold and these discharges have resulted in the contamination of the
sediment at the Shipyards Sediment Site.

I UNITED STATES NAVY

102. From 1921 to present, NAVY has provided shore support and pier-side berthing
-24-
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services to U.S. Pacific fleet vessels at Naval Station San Diego (“NAVSTA?”), which it owns
and operates, located at 3445 Surface Navy Boulevard.

103. NAVSTA currently occupies 1,029 acres of land and 326 water acres adjacent to
San Diego Bay to the west, and Chollas Creek north near Pier 1. It is immediately south of and
adjacent to the Shipyard Sediment Site. NAVSTA’s present leasehold includes a 24,653 square
foot parcel north of and immediately adjacent to Chollas Creek, at the south end of 28" Street.

104. Between 1938 and 1956, NAVSTA’s leasehold also included the 28" Street
Shore Boat Landing Station, located at the south end of the present day NASSCO leasehold at
the foot of 28" Street, including the 28" Street Pier. Upon information and belief, at this
location, NAVY conducted operations similar to a small boatyard, including solvent cleaning
and degreasing of vessel parts and surfaqes, abrasive blasting and scraping for paint removal and
surface preparations, metal plating, and surface finishing and painting.

105. Upon information and belief, NAVSTA historically has provided supply and
maintenance logistical support to numerous U.S. Navy vessels. NAVSTA was used extensively
in the 1920s and 1930s for repair and maintenance of U.S. Navy Destroyer vessels. The base was
rapidly expanded in the 1930s and 1940s. From 1943 to 1945, more than 5,000 ships were sent
to the base for conversion, overhaul, battle damage, repair, or maintenance. Almost half of these
ships were dry docked. In the mid-1940s, the base added another 823 acres, 200 buildings, a
1,700 marine railway, a cruiser graving dry dock, five large repair piers, a quay wall totally
28,000 feet of berthing space, and extensive industrial repair facilities. NAVSTA is currently
home port for approximately 60 naval vessels and 50 separate commands.

106. Upon information and belief, a number of historical activities at NAVSTA
resulted in the discharge of hazardous substances to the San Diego Bay, including:

a. Former ship repair basins: Many ship repair operations were conducted in :
4 basins used as ship repair wet docks between 1943-1945, when over 5,000 ships were sent
there for conversion, overhaul and repair. Thereafter, until 1972, at least 2 basins were used as
informal disposal sites for hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste. Chemical constituents

identified in these basins in the 1990s included lubricants, oils, and PCBs. In 1998, 16 tons of
.25-
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PCB and PAH impacted soil was removed as part of an initial cleanup action.

b. Mole pier: Constructed in 1942, materials such as creosote-coated pier
pilings, lumber, refuse concrete, waste paints, gasoline, oil and diesel fuel were burned at the site
between 1945 and 1972. Trucks and heavy equipment were decontaminated here by spraying
them with diesel fuel and dunking them in Paleta Creek, which flows to the Bay. It is estimated
that approximately 500,000 gallons of fuel was sprayed, burned or buried in this area
historically.

c. Salvage Yard: Materials handled by this yard between 1943 and
approximately 1975 include transformers containing PCBs, mercury, electrolytes from old
batteries, drummed petroleum wastes, solvents and thinners, and demolition debris. It is
estimated that 100-200 drums of waste lubricating oils, lubricants and solvents were transported
here for handling. Liquids were incinerated, poured onto the ground, or recycled. Pollutants
could have migrated to the Bay via Paleta Creek or surface water runoff.

d. Defense Property Disposal Office Storage Yard: Used between 1943
through 1981, this site was routinely oiled as a dust control measure prior to 1975, with some
35,000 to 75,000 gallons of waste petroleum, oils and lubricants. Chemical constituents
identified here in the 1990s include petroleum, PCBs and metals. Hazardous substances
migrated to the Bay via Paleta Creek or surface water runoff.

€. Firefighting training facility: Between 1945 and 1995, NAVY operated
this facility near its Pier 8. Training fires were lit regularly using petroleum hydrocarbons,
including approximately 3500 gallons per week of jet propellant grade 5 and gasoline. Prior to
1972, there was no pollution control equipment and chemicals could have migrated to the Bay.
Contamination was identified at the site in the early 1990s and extraction systems have
reportedly removed some 15,000 gallons of free product.

f. PCB Storage Facility Electrical Storage Yard: From 1981 through 1994,
NAVY operated a PCB storage facility near Paleta Creek, approximately 1000 feet from the Bay.
The area was used primarily for maintenance of electrical equipment, including draining of

transformer fluids and storage of fluids containing PCBs. PCBs were not segregated from other
-26-
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fluids until the late 1980s. Waste oil likely containing PCBs was applied to the ground for dust
and weed suppression. PCB impacted soil was removed from the site and a nearby storm drain
in the mid-1990s.

g Material Storage Yard: The site was used between 1939 and 1995 as an
unpaved storage yard for metal ﬁnishing, preservation and packaging at Building 321. In the
19905, metals, PAHs and PCBs were identified in soil at the site.

h. Brinser Street parking area: NAVY constructed floating dry docks and
barges here near its Pier 7 between 1941 and 1945. Facilities included 2 shallow creosote dip
ponds used to treat lumber on the site. Soil investigations have revealed presence of petroleum
products, PAHs and metals, among others. Surface water run off could have transported
pollutants to the Bay.

i Drydock sandblast area: The drydoc.k sandblast grit area is located
immediately east of Piers 5 and 6. The site has been used for overhaul and maintenance of ships,
repair of ship components and contractor equipment since 1942. Operations here, which
continue to present, include sandblasting and painting. Copper abrasive blast material was used
to remove anticorrosive and antifouling paint from ship hulls. A railcar and silo transported and
stored the sandblast grit. Open air sandblasting took place until 1993. In October 1992, visible
surface contamination was removed, and the elevated levels of arsenic, iron, lead, manganese,
copper, and nickel, among others, were detected.

j- Historic operations at present NASSCO leaschold: Between 1938 and
1956, NAVY operated the 28" Street Shore Boat Landing Station, currently part of the NASSCO
leasehold, consisting of a finger pier and various machine and electrical shops and stores. On
information and belief, the activities conducted were most likely similar to those at a small boat
yard. Typically, such activities include scrubbing boat hulls, blasting, and painting. Paints used
typically include copper, arsenic, and mercury. Activities historically occur outside, close to
receiving waters. In its 1970s investigation of shipyards, the Regional Board concluded that in
San Diego Bay, heavy metal concentrations were higher in sediment near boatyards and

shipyards. Core sampling in the area of these former NAVY operations indicates that there are
.27-
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metals, tributyltin and PCBs likely attributable to NAVY’s operations.

107. Upon information and belief, current NAVY operations on the wetside also likely
discharge pollutants into San Diego Bay from in and around NAVSTA’s 13 piers berth ships,
barges and support vessels. Berth-side repair and maintenance conducted is believed to include
abrasive blasting, hydro-blasting, metal grinding, painting, tank cleaning, rémoval of bilge and
ballast water, removal of anti-fouling paint, sheet metal work, electrical work, mechanical repair,
engine repair, hull repair and sewage disposal. More complex similar activities are typically
conducted at the graving dock or floating dry dock. Discharges include industrial process water
or stormwater contaminated with abrasive blast material, paint, oils, lubricants, fuels and
solvents. NAVY ship movements and tidal flows work to distribute pollutants from NAVSTA to
the Shipyard Sediment Site. |

108. On information and belief, additionally, NAVY currently and historically has
many of its ships and other vessels serviced at the NASSCO leasehold operations and the BAE
SYSTEMS leasehold operations. On information and belief, NAVY would provide detailed
specifications for all repair, overhaul, construction and maintenance work on its ships to
NASSCO, NATIONAL STEEL & SHIPBUILDING CORPORATION, NATIONAL IRON
WORKS, MARTINOLICH SHIP BUILDING COMPANY, BAE SYSTEMS, the SDMCC
DEFENDANTS, and the CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS. Upon information and belief, this
included, but was not limited to, what type of antifouling and marine paints to use on NAVYV
ships, which were NAVY or U.S. Military formulations; other painting specifications for NAVY |
ships; how to conduct abrasive blasting and scraping on ships; and how to conduct hull cleaning
on ships. On information and belief, NAVY has and had its own offices and/or conference
rooms and/or NAVY operated facilities at the current NASSCO and BAE SYSTEMS leaseholds,
both presently and historically. On information and belief, NAVY personnel on the ships and
vessels also themselves conducted such repair, overhaul, construction and maintenance work on
NAVY ships while those ships were docked at the facilities owned and operated by NASSCO,
NATIONAL STEEL & SHIPBUILDING CORPORATION, NATIONAL IRON WORKS,

MARTINOLICH SHIP BUILDING COMPANY, BAE SYSTEMS, the SDMCC
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DEFENDANTS and the CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS. Discharges from this work on NAVY
ships and vessels from this work, which NAVY was aware of and intended via its issuance of
detailed specifications for this work, and which NAVY itself caused from its own work on these
ships and vessels while docked at these shipyards, likely contributed to the discharge of
hazardous substances into the Shipyard Sediment Site, including metals (arsenic, cadmium,
copper, lead, mercury, zinc), Uibutyltihs, PAHs, and PCBs.

109. Upon information and belief, NAVSTA’s dryside consists of facilities east of
Harbor Drive, and contains at least 8 of its own MS4 storm drains. NAVY owns and operates its
own MS4 storm water conveyance system. Some 266 acres of NAVSTA drain directly to
Chollas Creek.

110. The Regional Board has alleged in Tentative Order R9-2005-0126 that NAVY
has caused or permitted the discharge of pollutants to the San Diego Bay in violation of its
NPDES permit, including excessive concentrations of copper, lead and zinc.

111. The Regional Board has further alleged in Tentative Order R9-2005-0126 that
NAVY caused or permiﬁed waste from its NAVSTA operations to be discharged into the Bay,
via storm water, tides and ship movement, and discharged directly into the Shipyard Sediment
Site through its prior operations at the 28" Street Shore Boat Landing Station, in violation of
waste discharge requirements, and discharged or deposited waste where it was discharged into
the Bay creating, or threatening to create, a condition of pollutlon or nuisance. The Regional
Board has alleged that NAVY has violated Water Code section 13304 and violated its NPDES
permit requirements under the Clean Water Act section 402.

112. NAVY’s own studies suggest that a chronic substantial source of PAHs to San
Diego Bay is from creosote treated pilings, like those on NAVY’s Mole pier.

113.  Upon information and belief, the NAVY has intentionally or accidentally
discharged the COCs from its operations and these discharges have resulted in the contamination
of the sediment at the Shipyards Sediment Site.

J. PORT DISTRICT

114. Since 1962, the PORT DISTRICT has had an ownership interest, as a public
.99
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1 || trustee and landlord, in the NASSCO and BAE Leaseholds, and in the property formerly leased

2 || to the SDMCC DEFENDANTS and the CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS, as well as in an easement
3 || for the cooling water tunnels from SDG&E’s Silvergate Powerplant.

4 115. The State of California holds title to the navigable waterways and the land

5 || beneath them as a trustee for the public. The State's power to control, regulate and utilize the
navigable waterways within the terms of the trust is absolute except as limited by the supervisory
power of the federal government. Under the San Diego Unified Port District Act ("the Act"), the

state of California delegated its authority to manage and control San Diego Bay to the PORT

O 0 NN N

‘DISTRICT. The Act authorizes thé PORT DISTRICT to make and enforce all necessary rules
10 || and regulations regarding the tidelands within its jurisdiction. Accordingly, the PORT

11 || DISTRICT had regulatory land use authority over the property it held in trust and leased to

12 ||NAASCO, BAE SYSTEMS, the SDMCC DEFENDANTS, the CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS,
13 ||and SDG&E.

Suite 1600
San Diego, CA 92101

14 116. Upon information and belief, the PORT DISTRICT had, through its interactions

Gordon & Rees [LLP
101 West Broadway

15 || with the Regional Board over the years, known of the likelihood of intentional and/or accidental
16 || discharges of hazardous substances from NASSCO, BAE SYSTEMS, the SDMCC

17 || DEFENDANTS, the CAMPBELL DEFENDANTS, and SDG&E contributing to the

18 || accumulations of hazardous substances in the Shipyards Sediment Site area. Despite this

19 || knowledge, the PORT DISTRICT did not exercise its regulatory land use authority to prevent the
20 || discharges of hazardous substances. |

21 117.  Upon information and belief, the PORT DISTRICT has had the legal authority

22 || under its lease agreements with its lessees, including Defendants discussed above, to impose

23 || controls that could prevent or reduce the Defendant lessees’ discharges of hazardous substances:

24 a. Lease agreements between PORT DISTRICT and its tenants typically

25 || contained terms that obligated its tenants to “abide by and conform to . . . any applicable laws of
26 ||the State of California and Federal Government.”

27 b. Defendant PORT DISTRICT's leases also required that its tenants keep

28 || the leased premises in a clean and sanitary condition, free and clear of waste.
-30-
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1 c. The leases also authorized PORT DISTRICT to enter and inspect the

-2 || premises at any time during normal business hours.

3 d. The leases authorized PORT DISTRICT to terminate the lease after 60
4 || days written notice if the tenant defaulted in performance of the lease provisions. |
5 118. The Regional Board alleged, in Tentative Order R9-2005-0126, that the above
6 || cited lease terms would be sufficient to base a finding that the PORT DISTRICT had the
7 || requisite degree of control over its tenants’ activities to show that PORT DISTRICT caused or
8 || permitted waste to be discharged into San Diego Bay, creating a condition of pollution at the
9 || Shipyard Sediment Site.
10 119. Upon information and belief, the PORT DISTRICT’s tenants at the NAASCO and

11 || BAE Leaseholds have intentionally and/or accidentally discharged the COCs from their

& . 3 12 || operations and these discharges have resulted in the contamination of the sediment at the
a3 =~
8 'é 8 : 13 || Shipyards Sediment Site.
X m ; ({
EEE L FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
T ~
8% & 15 (Cost Recovery Under CERCLA against all Defendants)
16 120. Plaintiff realleges all prior paragraphs and incorporates them by reference.
17 121. The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act

18 || (“CERCLA™), CERCLA Section 107(a), 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a), provides as follows:

19 (1) the owner or operator of a . . . facility,
20
(2) any person who at the time of disposal of any hazardous substance owned or
21 operated any facility at which such hazardous substances were disposed of, [or]
22
23 (3) any person who . . . arranged for disposal or treatment . . . of hazardous
24 substances . . . at any facility...
25 (4) .... from which there is a release, or threatened release which causes the
26 incurrence of response costs, of a hazardous substance, shall be liable for —
27
28

-31-
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(B) any other necessary costs of response incurred by any other person consistent

with the national contingency plan.

122.  As detailed in the general allegations above, each Defendant qualifies as a
“covered person” as defined by Section 107(a) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a).

123. The chemicals and substances which Defendants used, stored, disposed of,
discharged and released into the Shipyard Sediment Site were “hazardous substances” within the
meaning of CERCLA Section 101(14),42 U.S.C. §9601(]4). Such hazardous substances
included the COCs.

124. A “release” or “threatened release” of hazardous substances within the meaning
of CERCLA Section 101(22), 42 U.S.C. § 9601(22), has occurred at the Shipyard Sediment Site
from each of Defendants’ ownership, operations or arrangements for disposal of hazardous
substances at facilities at or adjacent to the Shipyard Sediment Site. Defendants, and each of
them, conducted themselves in their ownership and/or operations and/or disposal arrangement |
activities at or around the Shipyard Sediment Site so as to directly,' proximately and/or causally .
contribute to the damages as alleged herein.

125. The release(s) or threatened release(s) have occurred from a “facility” or facilities
into the Shipyard Sediment Site within the meaning of CERCLA Section 101(9), 42 U.S.C. §
9601(9).

126.  As a result of the “release(s)” and/or threatened “releases(s)” of “hazardous
substances,” by Defendants, Plaintiff has conducted and is conducting a “response” within the
meaning of CERCLA Section 101(25), 42 U.S.C. § 9601(25), and has incurred and will incur
response costs.

127. Plaintiff has incurred, and will continue to incur, substantial costs consistent with
the National Contingency Plan to investigate and remediate releases and/or threatened releases of
hazardous substances in the environment at and around the Site.

128. Plaintiff requests that judgment be entered in its favor and against Defendants

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a) for all response costs that Plaintiff has incurred and will in the
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1 || future incur to investigate, remove or remediate hazardous substances, and alleged property

2 || damage, including but not limited to alleged damage to aquatic life, at the Site.

3 SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

4 (Contribution Under CERCLA against all Defendants)

5 129. Plaintiff realleges all prior paragraphs and incorporate them by reference.

6 130. Each Defendant is a “covered person” as defined by Section 107(a) of CERCLA,
7 {42 US.C. § 9607(a). Each Defendant therefore is a “covered person,” liable for contribution and

8 || other relief to Plaintiff under 42 U.S.C. § 9613(f).

9 131.  As responsible parties under section 9607(a) of CERCLA, Defendants, and each

10 || of them, are liable to Plaintiff for contribution toward any costs it incurs in responding to and/or
11 || reimbursing Plaintiff for the alleged release and/or threatened release of hazardous substances at
12 || or into the Shipyard Sediment Site as alleged in herein, including without limitation, the costs of

13 || investigation, clean-up, removal of contaminated sediments and soils, and completing any

Suite 1600
San Diego, CA 92101

14 |{additional investigation, monitoring, and remediation at the Shipyard Sediment Site, in amounts

Gordon & Rees LLP
101 West Broadway

15 ||to be determined at the trial of this matter.

16 132.  Plaintiff requests that judgment be entered in its favor and against Defendants

17 || pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 9613 for contribution to the response costs that Plaintiff has incurred,
18 {|and will incur in the future, to investigate and/or remediate hazardous substances, and alleged

19 || property damage, including but not limited to alleged damage to aquatic life, at the Site.

20 THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

21 (Declaratory Judgment Under CERCLA against all Defendants)

22 133. Plaintiff realleges all prior paragraphs and incorporates them by reference.

23 134. CERCLA Section 113(g)(2), 42 U.S.C. § 9613(g)(2), provides that in an action to

24 || recover costs, “the court shall enter a declaratory judgment on liability for response costs or
25 || damages that will be binding on any subsequent action or actions to recover furtlier response
26 || costs or damages.”

27 135. This action is an action of the type described in CERCLA Section 113(g)(2), 42

28 || U.S.C. § 9613(g)(2).
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136. An actual controversy has arisen and now exists among Plaintiff and Defendants
in that Plaintiff contends, and Defendants deny, that Defendants are liable under CERCLA for
the costs incurred and to be incurred by Plaintiff to investigate, remove or remediate hazardous
substances at the Site.

137.  Unless all of the rights, duties and obligations of Plaintiff and each Defendant are
determined in this action, there will be a multiplicity of actions. Judicial determination of the
liability of each party is necessary and appropriate in order that Plaintiff may ascertain its rights
as against each Defendant.

138. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a) and 42 U.S.C. § 9613(g)(2), this Court has
jurisdiction to award declaratory relief. Plaintiff, therefore, request a judicial determination of its
rights, and the duties and obligations of each Defendant, and all others, with respect to the
alleged release and/or threatened release of hazardous substances at the Shipyard Sediment Site
and the alleged property damage, including but not limited to alleged damage to aquatic life
resulting therefrom. Plaintiff further requests that this Court apply all equitable factors and
principles in determining the fault and liability of each party in making an allocation and

apportionment for contributions by, between and among the parties.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Contribution Under Hazardous Substance Account Act against all Defendants)

139. Plaintiff realleges all prior paragraphs and incorporates them by reference.

140. The California Hazardous Substance Aécount Act (“HSA/;{”) cédiﬁed at
California Health & Safety Code §§ 25300 through 25395,45, states at § 25363(¢):

Any person who has incurred removal or remedial action costs in accordance with this
chapter or the federal act [defined as the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (42 U.S.C. §§9601, et seq.)] may seek
contribution or indemnity from any person who is liable pursuant to this chapter.

141. Plaintiff is a “person” who has incurred or will incur removal and remedial action
costs in accordance with Chapter 6.8 of the HSAA and with the federal act, within the meaning

of HSAA § 25319.
-34-
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1 142. Each Defendant is a “person who is liable” for removal and remedial action costs
2 || incurred by Plaintiff within the meaning of HSAA §§ 25319 and 25323.5.
3 143. The contaminants released or discharged by Defendants are “hazardous

4 || substances” within the meaning of HSAA § 25316, and the federal act.

5 144. The Shipyard Sediment Site is a “site” within the meaning of HSAA § 25323.9.

6 145. The costs incurred by Plaintiff to investigate and remediate hazardous substances,
7 || alleged property damage, and alleged injury at the Shipyard Sediment Site have been incurred

8 || for f‘removal” or “remedial” actions within the meaning of HSAA §§ 25322 and 25323.

9 146. All removal and remedial costs incurred, and to be incurred, by Plaintiff at the

10 || Shipyard Sediment Site are necessary costs of response that are consistent with HSAA §

11 |[25356.1.
g, 3 12 147. Plaintiff has given or will give written notice of this action to the Regional Board
g, :; % § 13 || pursuant to HSAA § 25363(e).
:S: E :% _§3 14 148. Defendants are liable to Plaintiff for all removal and remedial costs incurred to
8 E & 15 || remedy the alleged effects of hazardous substances that Defendants have released or disposed at
16 || the Site.
17 149. Plaintiff is entitled to contribution from Defendants for all response costs under
18 || California Health & Safety Code Section 25363(e). Accordingly, Plaintiff requests that judgment
19 || be entered in favor of Plaintiff and against Defendants as set forth below..
20 | FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
21 (Declaratory Relief Under California Hazardous Substance Account Act against all
- Defendants)
150. Plaintiff realleges all prior paragraphs and incorporates them by reference.
» 151.  Plaintiff has incurred costs in connection with its investigation of contamination
2 at the Shipyard Sediment Site in accordance with the HSAA, California Health & Safety Code
» §25300, et seq.
26
152.  An actual controversy has arisen and now exists among Plaintiff and Defendants
Z in that Plaintiff contends, and Defendants deny, that Defendants are liable under the HSAA for

-35-

COMPLAINT




Gordon & Rees LLP
101 West Broadway

Suite 1600
San Diego, CA 92101

O e NN A

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Case 3:09-cv-0223-W-CAB Document 1 Filed 10/14/09 Page 36 of 81

the costs incurred and to be incurred by Plaintiff to investigate, remove or re‘mediate hazardous
substances, and alléged property damage, including but not limited to alleged damage to aquatic
life, at the Site.

153. Because the alleged contamination has not been fully mitigated according to
regulatory agencies, Plaintiff will incur necessary response costs under the HSAA in the future.

154. Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code § 25363, Plaintiff is entitled to a
declaratory judgment establishing Defendants’ liability for such response costs for the purposes
of this and any subsequent action or actions to recover further response costs. Accordingly,
Plaintiff requests that judgment be entered in favor of Plaintiff and against Defendants as set

forth below.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Contribution under State law against all Defendants except NAVY)
155.  Plaintiff incorporates the prior allegations by this reference as though fully set

forth herein.

156. As a direct and proximate result of the releases and/or threatened releases of
hazardous substances into the environment, as alleged above, Plaintiff has incurred and will
incur response costs, beyond its share, for investigation and cleanup of the alleged
contamination.

157. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that the conduct of

| Defendants was the proximate cause of the damages which Plaintiff has incurred because of

claims from third parties such as the Regional Board.
158. Under Section 1432 of the California Civil Code, which states that *“a party to a

joint, or joint and several obligation, who satisfies more than his share of the claim against all,

may require a proportionate contribution from all the parties joined with him,” and under general

equitable principles and rules governing this action, Plaintiff is entitled to contribution from

Defendants for their share of the response costs and damages paid and to be paid by Plaintiff.
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